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The imitation incisor pendant from R26/141 is a more realistic version of a tooth than that
recovered from Paremata. Moreover, the ‘tooth’ itself is white, whereas the ‘root’ is stained
by a naturally deposited red/brown material that was evident on a large number of shells in
the midden deposit.

The one saw or cutter from the Northern excavation is of a slaty argillite (probably local)
and is the only tool made from this type of stone from this part of the site. What appears
to be a similar material was used in Palliser Bay for cutters or saws, particularly during the
Level IT occupation at the Washpool Midden Site dated to A.D. 1350 (K. Prickett 1979:
173).

Some change from prehistoric to post-European technology is evident within Layer 2,
although many aspects of the former were retained throughout the layer despite the
availability of European materials. Glass was used as a cutting tool but obsidian remained
common throughout this occupation layer. The modified bronze spike indicates the adoption
of metal tools for carving on the island. Only 4 of the 19 composite bait hooks from Layer
2 came from the upper 10 c¢m of the deposit. One of these is the moa bone example
mentioned above, which may have moved upward in the deposit as a result of later
activities. Alternatively, moa bone and other materials, much as metasomatised argillite, may
have been obtained from the earlier deposits for industrial use by the nineteenth century
occupants of the site. Although no metal fish hooks were recovered from this site, the less
common occurrence of bone hooks during the latter part of the Ngati Toa occupation of the
site may reflect access to European goods and consequent use of these new materials.
However, it may also reflect the gradual abandonment of the site by Ngati Toa during the
mid-nineteenth century.

The main activities represented by Layer 2, within the area excavated, were cooking, as
indicated by fire scoops, hangi and large quantities of firecracked stone, the dumping of
food debris and other waste, and tool maintenance or manufacture. Hangi had been dug
from the middle of the Layer 2 deposit and penetrated earlier layers and in some cases the
natural substratum. Bone from a range of species including dog, mammal, whale, human,
albatross and small unidentified bird was being worked at the site, as well as stone from a
number of sources.

The distribution of artefactual and faunal material within Layer 2 at the Northern site and
to some extent the distribution of postholes indicate that activities varied within this area.
Artefactual material, including worked bone and stone flakes, and the postholes are
concentrated to the north of the drain. Immediately to the north of the drainage trench the
two largest hangi encountered at the site had been dug. To the south of the drain Layer 2
is a much shallower deposit containing less concentrated faunal and artefactual material. One
posthole and three hangi were encountered here. The hangi had not penetrated earlier
deposits to the same extent as those to the north of the drain.

The excavated area would have been within the nineteenth century Ngati Toa settlement,
adjacent to the houses of Te Rangihaeata depicted on Swainson’s 1862 map. An
approximate date for Layer 2 can be derived from historical records relating to the
movement of the Ngati Toa to the Porirua region and settlement on Mana Island by the
early 1820s, and the arrival of John Bell in 1832. The exact duration of the Ngati Toa
settlement on Mana is not clear. Te Rangihaeata is reported as stating on May 4th 1843, that
the number of Ngati Toa residing on Mana at that time was “a hundred, backwards and
forwards” (MS Case 257: 10). By 1844 the settlement appears to have been virtually
abandoned; George French Angas found it nearly deserted when he visited the island to
paint Kai Tangata (Reed 1979:40). This is reflected in the contemporaneous Ngati Toa



38 NEW ZEALAND JOURNAL OF ARCHAEOLOGY

settlement at Paremata. Paremata Pa was still occupied by Ngati Toa in 1843 when the
original survey of this area was undertaken. It was abandoned shortly after this, following
the deterioration of relations between Maori and European settlers, and the commencement
of the military occupation in 1846 (Davidson 1978: 207).

As Layer 1 is considered to be disturbed material largely derived from Layer 2, most of
its contents probably also date from the early nineteenth century, while its formation is dated
to the digging of the drainage trench in 1973.

CONCLUSIONS

The artefactual assemblage from Site R26/141 has some similarities with assemblages from
other sites in the Cook Strait region. During the earlier period of settlement on the island
there appears to be a mixture of styles previously known from sites on the northern side of
the Strait and from Wairau Bar to the south. Trolling lures in stone and bone were in use.
The associated bone points included both the uni-perforate type with no extension of the
base and an unperforated type with a grooved distal extension of the base. Plain, U-shaped,
one-piece bait hooks were also a relatively common piece of fishing equipment. Barracouta
points and composite bait hook points were rare in the earlier period. However, when the
island was reoccupied in the early nineteenth century, composite hooks had completely
replaced the trolling lure and barracouta lures were more commonly in use. One-piece bait
hooks were still common. Fish hooks were manufactured using stone drill points, schist files
and pumice abraders during all occupation periods on the island.

Lithic material was imported from D’Urville island, the southeast Wairarapa or Kaikoura
coast and possibly other sources, probably in the form of finished stone tools which may
have been reworked on the island. Local stone appears never to have been especially
important, although it is represented in all stone artefact types from the earlier occupation
period.

Birds were hunted with bone pointed spears during the earlier occupation period. This tool
was not represented in the nineteenth century assemblage, although this may reflect a
decline in the availability of birds on the island. Bone awls were used by the carly
inhabitants but apparently not during the nineteenth century, whereas bone needles were
found exclusively in the later deposit.

Evidence of early ornaments is restricted to segments of Dentalium nanum. By the
nineteenth century, however, pendants were common as indicated by the numerous toggles
and worked bone tubes, as well as tooth pendants, including an imitation form. Bone cloak
pins were possibly present.

The midden at the Southern Site, reflecting previous exploitation of the local environment,
was probably deposited around A.D. 1400, not long after first settlement of the island. At
this time a range of activities took place, including tool manufacture, with fishing and bird
spearing important. The first occupation at the Northern Site may have begun about this
time, but the precise function of the site then is not known. The Layer 3 midden appears
to be slightly later than the southern midden. The overlying deposits at the Northern site
suggest a fairly rapid succession of changing functions with a ‘stone pavement’ overlying
Layer 3 and the Black Layer immediately on top of the ‘stone pavement’. The site then
appears to have been abandoned from perhaps the late fifteenth century until the early
nineteenth century. In the interim a natural gravel deposit blanketed the site. After
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reoccupation by the Ngati Toa, the Northern site was a cooking and dumping area adjacent
to Te Rangihaeata’s residential complex.
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